
  

HOUSING SCRUTINY 
SUB COMMITTEE 

________________________________________________ 

 
Tuesday, 9 April 2019 at 6.30 p.m. 

 
 
 

This meeting is open to the public to attend.  
 

Members:  
Chair: Councillor Dipa Das 
Vice-Chair: Councillor Dan Tomlinson 
Councillor Gabriela Salva Macallan, Councillor Shah Ameen, Councillor Shad Chowdhury 
and Councillor Andrew Wood 
 
Substitutes:  
Councillor Sabina Akhtar, Councillor Mohammed Ahbab Hossain, Councillor Helal Uddin 
and Councillor Peter Golds 
  
Co-opted Members:  
Anne  Ambrose Tenant Representative 
Moshin Hamim Leaseholder Representative 
 
[The quorum for this body is 3 voting Members] 

 
Contact for further enquiries: 
The Committee Services Officer 
Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG 
Tel: 020 8364 5554 
E-mail: rushena.miah@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
Web: http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk 
 

Scan this code for 
an electronic 
agenda  

 

 

Page 1



 
 
 
 
 

Public Information 
Attendance at meetings. 
The public are welcome to attend meetings of the Committee. However seating is limited 
and offered on a first come first served basis.  
 
Audio/Visual recording of meetings. 
Should you wish to film the meeting, please contact the Committee Officer shown on the 
agenda front page. 

 
Mobile telephones 
Please switch your mobile telephone on to silent mode whilst in the meeting.  

 
Access information for the Town Hall, Mulberry Place.      

 
Bus: Routes: D3, D6, D7, D8, 15, 108, and115 all 
stop near the Town Hall.  
Docklands Light Railway: Nearest stations are 
East India: Head across the bridge and then 
through the complex to the Town Hall, Mulberry 
Place  
Blackwall station: Across the bus station then turn 
right to the back of the Town Hall complex, 
through the gates and archway to the Town Hall.  
Tube: The closest tube stations are Canning 
Town and Canary Wharf  
Car Parking: There is limited visitor pay and 

display parking at the Town Hall (free from 6pm) 

If you are viewing this on line:(http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/content_pages/contact_us.aspx)  

Meeting access/special requirements.  
The Town Hall is accessible to people with special needs. There are accessible toilets, lifts 
to venues. Disabled parking bays and an induction loop system for people with hearing 
difficulties are available.  Documents can be made available in large print, Braille or audio 
version. For further information, contact the Officers shown on the front of the agenda  

     
Fire alarm 
If the fire alarm sounds please leave the building immediately by the nearest available fire 
exit without deviating to collect belongings. Fire wardens will direct you to the exits and to 
the fire assembly point. If you are unable to use the stairs, a member of staff will direct you 
to a safe area. The meeting will reconvene if it is safe to do so, otherwise it will stand 
adjourned. 

Electronic agendas reports and minutes. 
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be 
found on our website from day of publication.   
 
To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for 
the relevant committee and meeting date.  
 

Agendas are available at the Town Hall, Libraries, Idea Centres and One 
Stop Shops and on the Mod.Gov, iPad and Android apps.   

 
QR code for 
smart phone 
users. 

 
 Page 2

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


 
 
 
 

 

  PAGE 
NUMBER(S) 

 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

1. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS  

 

5 - 8 

  
To note any declarations of interest made by Members, including those 
restricting Members from voting on the questions detailed in Section 106 
of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992.  See attached note from the 
Monitoring Officer. 
 

 

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)  
 

9 - 14 

  
To approve as an accurate record the minutes of the meeting held on 26 
February 2019. 
 

 

3. REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION  
 

 

  

4. RESPONDING TO GROWTH AND WATER 
INFRASTRUCTURE NEEDS AND TACKLING THE ISSUE OF 
LOW WATER PRESSURE  

 

15 - 22 

  
Presented by Matthew Pullen-Infrastructure Planning Manager. 
The item will help Members understand how Thames Water is responding 
to growth and infrastructure needs, in particular for new and existing 
households. 
 

 

5. INFRASTRUCTURE PLANNING AND THE 
INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY PLAN  

 

23 - 32 

  
Presented by Matthew Pullen – Infrastructure Planning Manager. The 
item aims to provide a review of the Council's infrastructure delivery plan 
and developments. 
 

 

6. NPPF UPDATE AND LETWIN REVIEW ON BUILD-OUT 
RATES  

 

33 - 52 

  
Report of David Williams – Deputy Divisional Director, planning and 
building control. 
The presentation will aim to help Members understand the changes to the 
NPPF and the findings of Sir Oliver Letwin's Review and the likely impact 
on Tower Hamlets, including how the Council can respond working with 
partners to drive absorption rates. 
 

 

Page 3



 
 
 
 

7. SOCIAL HOUSING LANDLORD PERFORMANCE REPORT - 
Q3 2018/19  

 

53 - 68 

  
Standing item. 
 

 

8. STRATEGIC PLAN REPORTING Q1-Q3 2018/19 - EXTRACT 
FROM THE CABINET REPORT: ACTIVITIES AND 
MEASURES RELATING TO HOUSING  

 

69 - 88 

  
Standing item.  
 

 

9. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 

  

10. ANY OTHER BUSINESS - RESTRICTED PART 2 ITEM  
 

 

  
To discuss other business the Chair considers urgent.  
 

 THH Strategic Review - A verbal discussion. 
 

 

 

Next Meeting of the Sub- Committee 
The next meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee will be held on Tuesday, 11 
June 2019 at 6.30 p.m.  

 

Page 4



DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE MONITORING OFFICER 
 

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Members’ Code of Conduct 
at Part 5.1 of the Council’s Constitution.    
 
Please note that the question of whether a Member has an interest in any matter, and whether or 
not that interest is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, is for that Member to decide.  Advice is 
available from officers as listed below but they cannot make the decision for the Member.  If in 
doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to attending a meeting.   
 
Interests and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) 
 
You have an interest in any business of the authority where that business relates to or is likely to 
affect any of the persons, bodies or matters listed in section 4.1 (a) of the Code of Conduct; and 
might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or financial position of yourself, a 
member of your family or a person with whom you have a close association, to a greater extent 
than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward affected. 
 
You must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any such interest, for inclusion in the Register 
of Members’ Interests which is available for public inspection and on the Council’s Website. 
 
Once you have recorded an interest in the Register, you are not then required to declare that 
interest at each meeting where the business is discussed, unless the interest is a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI). 
 
A DPI is defined in Regulations as a pecuniary interest of any of the descriptions listed at 
Appendix A overleaf.  Please note that a Member’s DPIs include his/her own relevant interests 
and also those of his/her spouse or civil partner; or a person with whom the Member is living as 
husband and wife; or a person with whom the Member is living as if they were civil partners; if the 
Member is aware that that other person has the interest.    
 
Effect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest on participation at meetings 
 
Where you have a DPI in any business of the Council you must, unless you have obtained a 
dispensation from the authority's Monitoring Officer following consideration by the Dispensations 
Sub-Committee of the Standards Advisory Committee:- 

- not seek to improperly influence a decision about that business; and 
- not exercise executive functions in relation to that business. 

 
If you are present at a meeting where that business is discussed, you must:- 

- Disclose to the meeting  the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting 
or when the interest becomes apparent, if later; and  

- Leave the room (including any public viewing area) for the duration of consideration and 
decision on the item and not seek to influence the debate or decision  

 
When declaring a DPI, Members should specify the nature of the interest and the agenda item to 
which the interest relates.  This procedure is designed to assist the public’s understanding of the 
meeting and to enable a full record to be made in the minutes of the meeting.   
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



Where you have a DPI in any business of the authority which is not included in the Member’s 
register of interests and you attend a meeting of the authority at which the business is 
considered, in addition to disclosing the interest to that meeting, you must also within 28 days 
notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest for inclusion in the Register.  
 
Further advice 
 
For further advice please contact: 
 
Asmat Hussain, Corporate Director Governance & Monitoring Officer Tel 020 7364 4800 
 

Page 6



APPENDIX A:  Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
 
(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule) 
 

Subject Prescribed description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by the 
Member in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the 
election expenses of the Member. 

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority— 

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and 

(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)— 

(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 

(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 
 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 

(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and 

(b) either— 
 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth 
of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB COMMITTEE, 
26/02/2019 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

MINUTES OF THE HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB COMMITTEE 
 

HELD AT 6.45 P.M. ON TUESDAY, 26 FEBRUARY 2019 
 

C3 - TOWN HALL MULBERRY PLACE 
 

Members Present: 
Councillor Dipa Das (Chair)  
Councillor Dan Tomlinson (Vice- 
Chair) 
Councillor Shah Ameen 
Councillor Andrew Wood 

 

  
Co-opted Members Present: 
Anne  Ambrose Tenant Representative 
Moshin Hamim Leaseholder Representative 
 
Other Councillors Present: 
Councillor Sirajul Islam 
 

Others Present: 

Sandra Fawcett   Tower Hamlets Housing Forum 

Beverley Greenidge Head of Neighbourhoods Tower Hamlets Homes 
(THH) 

Pam Bhamra Tower Hamlets Community Housing 

Philip Sullivan 
 
Paul Bloss 
John Henderson 
 

Tower Hamlets Community Housing 
 
East End Homes 
East End Homes 

 
Officers Present: 
Abidah Kamali Strategy & Policy Manager 
Ellie Kershaw Tackling Poverty Programme Manager, Growth 

and Economic Development ,Place  
Kath Dane Street Population Co-ordinator, Housing Options, 

Place 
Keith Burns Programme Director Special Projects, 

Commissioning & Health 
Lee Fearon Benefits Policy and Procedures Manager 
Mark Baigent Interim Divisional Director, Housing and 

Regeneration 
Rafiqul Hoque Lettings Services Manager, Housing Options 

Service, Place 
Rushena Miah Committee Officer 
Shahnaz Rab LBTH Commissioning Team Monitoring Officer 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB COMMITTEE, 
26/02/2019 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

2 

Stephanie Graden Interim Service Manager, Vulnerable Adults 
Commissioning Team 

Steve Hill Head of Benefits, LBTH 
 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS  
 
Anne Ambrose declared a personal interest. She is a resident of Tower 
Hamlets Community Housing.  
Moshin Hamim declared a personal interest. He is a resident of East End 
Homes.   
 

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 

1. The minutes of the meeting held on 29 January 2019 were approved 
as an accurate record and signed by the Chair.  

 
3. REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION:  

 
4. SHELTERED HOUSING REPORT  

 
The Committee received the report of Keith Burns, Programme Director, on 
sheltered housing. Commissioning Officers, Shehnaz Rab and Stephanie 
Graden summarised the report.  
 
In response to Member questions officers provided the following: 
 

 It was clarified that activities were tenant led in order to encourage 
ownership and personal development.  

 Barriers to participation included people being employed full time or 
actively involved in other community projects. The scheme was said to 
be building momentum and early successes with the initial work would 
be used to encourage other organisations to participate and enable 
wider engagement.  

 It was noted that One Housing, Sanctuary Housing and Southern 
Housing Group had not engaged in the IHMS scheme, however 
officers were confident monitoring data from the first phase could be 
used to encourage participation from providers.  

 There were concerns that 27% BME engagement was quite low. 
Officers expected better engagement in the future after building 
momentum. 

 It was clarified the Tenant Activity Pot (TAP) was separate to overall 
commissioning for sheltered housing.  

 The team was exploring a digital system to capture TAP activity 
engagement and satisfaction information, as the current system is both 
resource intensive for both participants and the Council. 

Page 10



HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB COMMITTEE, 
26/02/2019 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

3 

 ACTION: Sandra Fawcett to follow up with the three providers: 
Southern Housing, One Housing and Sanctuary Housing on 
reasons for not participating in the TAP. 

 ACTION: Stephanie Graden to provide data breakdown of 
attendees at TAP activities by ethnic group and gender.  

 
RESOLVED: 

1. To note the report.  
 

5. PREVENTING HOMELESSNESS UPDATE  
 
The Committee received the report of Rafiqul Hoque, Head of Housing 
Options, and Ellie Kershaw, Tackling Poverty Programme Manager, on 
Preventing Homelessness. 

 
In response to Member questions officers provided the following: 
 

 The tenancy sustainment and housing management advice given to 
households is tailored to the type of problem being experienced.  

 The Council was unable to produce figures on how many homeless 
people were originally from the borough and how many came from 
outside. The borough turnover was estimated to be approximately 9000 
people a year, some of whom were likely to require support.  It was 
noted those who have not lived in the borough for more than three 
years were in a lower priority band.  

 Cabinet agreed a five year Homeless and Rough Sleeping Strategy in 
December 2018.  

 Interview times had gone up because the new legislation required 
officers to obtain more detailed information from people and develop a 
support plan rather than going through a checklist to find out if they met 
the criteria for support.  

 Officers explained that if homelessness became an ASB concern, the 
police had powers to issue a Community Protection Notice and 
Injunction. In order to tackle ‘intermittent homelessness’, where people 
continually go in and out of homelessness, a multi-agency approach is 
taken and services such as a street psychologist can be provided to 
address contributing factors such as drug dependency. 

 When the Chair opened up the meeting for comments from the public, 
there was strong opposition towards the Council working in partnership 
with the private sector to address homelessness.  

 The Chair asked Members to email the speakers if they had further 
questions due to time constraints.  
 

RESOLVED: 
1. To note the report.  

 
 
 
 

Page 11



HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB COMMITTEE, 
26/02/2019 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

4 

6. UNIVERSAL CREDIT & RENT ARREARS  
 
The Committee received a presentation from Beverley Greenidge, Head of 

Neighbourhoods-Tower Hamlets Homes, on Universal Credit. 

In response to Member questions the following points were made:  

 Support officers were available to provide advice on maximising 

benefits or Universal Credit.  

 It was noted that the Universal Credit online application was 

complicated and not user friendly to older people and people who did 

not speak English as a first language.   

 There was a Digital Inclusion work stream at THH that was designed to 

support and enable older people to fill in the online form. However it 

was recognised that capacity was an issue and THH would require the 

support of external agencies such as the Job Centre to also support 

people with IT.  

 ACTION: for Beverley Greenidge to circulate figures on the actual 

number of households in rent arrears. 

The Committee received a presentation from Sandra Fawcett Chair of Tower 

Hamlets Housing Forum on Universal Credit. 

In response to Member questions the following points were made:  

 Alternative payment arrangements varied depending on the landlord. 

With regard to discretionary housing payments such as bedroom tax, 

RPs usually looked to rehouse or pay the shortfall via an alternative 

arrangement.  

 Officers from Tower Hamlets Community Housing (THCH) had 

established the following support services regarding universal credit: 

o They had recruited a tenancy officer to assist people to make 

Universal Credit and DHP claims.  

o Worked in partnership with Workpath to deliver advice surgeries.  

o Project Leap with the Bromley by Bow Centre. The projects 

helped people maximise their income to help pay their rent. 

o 7 community centres to help people get job ready, last year they 

supported over 1000 people with work advice, though not all 

were THCH residents.  

 There were no plans to cut services due to UC. The main objective for 

RPs was to mitigate and minimise risk, support residents and collect 

rent.  

 It was noted there would be a vote in parliament before the roll out of 

UC and this would likely take place after July 2019.  

Page 12



HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB COMMITTEE, 
26/02/2019 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

5 

 ACTION: Ellie Kershaw to provide the Committee with data on 

evictions.  

 The Committee were assured that residents would not be evicted 

purely because they had made a UC claim.  

 The Chair asked members to email further questions to Sandra 

Fawcett.  

 

The Committee received the report of Steve Hill – Head of Benefits and Ellie 

Kershaw –Tackling Poverty Project Manager. 

In response to Member questions officers provided the following: 

 The Council had created a digital mock-up of the universal credit form 

to train staff so they could better understand the form and advise 

people applying for UC.  

 Pre-emptive measures - a dashboard was implemented to find people 

at risk or in crisis.  

 The Council had employed a DWP liaison officer who was assisting 

with complex cases. The officer had participated at a Parliamentary 

Sub-Committee on impact of UC.  

 The Committee recommended that a UC easy guide should be 

created.   

ACTION: Steve Hill to work with the TH communications team to  

produce an easy read UC guide for residents.  

 

The Chair thanked speakers for their presentations. 

 

RESOLVED: 

1. To note the presentations.   

7. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 
Tower Hamlets Homes Strategic Review 
 
In order to fulfil their remit of effective and meaningful scrutiny, Members of 
the Committee agreed that it was crucial they had opportunity to review the 
Altair report prior to it being made available in the public domain.  Members 
requested that the report is made available to HSSC members at least a week 
before its circulation to THH residents. 
 
Members understood the sensitivities of the draft report which contained the 
business and financial affairs of the local authority. Therefore, HSSC 
members advised they were happy to review and discuss the report in an 
exempt setting through a special and confidential meeting comprising of 
HSSC members, to which the public would not be invited.  

Page 13



HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB COMMITTEE, 
26/02/2019 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

6 

The Committee agreed that whilst they would participate in the statutory 
consultation, however, considering THH managed a significant amount of 
housing stock in the borough and given the Committee’s function, it was 
imperative that members of the housing scrutiny subcommittee had the 
opportunity to provide input into any proposals well in advance of a statutory 
consultation and before any options were communicated to THH residents. 
This request was in addition to the scrutiny and call in processes by Overview 
and Scrutiny.  
 
ACTION: The Cabinet Member for Housing and Divisional Director for 
Housing and Regeneration agreed to discuss the Committee’s request and 
timetabling of this with the Mayor, responding back to the Chair.  
 
 

 
 

The meeting ended at 8.55 p.m.  
 
 

Chair, Councillor Dipa Das 
Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee 

 

Page 14



Non-Executive Report of the: 

 
 

Housing Scrutiny Sub-committee 

9th April 2019 

 
Report of: Matthew Pullen, Infrastructure Planning 
Manager 

Classification: 
Unrestricted 

Responding to growth and water infrastructure needs and tackling the issue of low water 
pressure 

 

Wards affected All wards 

 

Executive Summary 

This report responds to the request for a spotlight session at Housing Scrutiny Sub-
committee regarding planning for future water infrastructure to support growth and 
tackling the issue of low water pressure. 
 
Detail is provided of collaborative action between the Council, the GLA and utilities 
providers to put in place the forward planning necessary to meet future infrastructure 
needs, in particular in areas of high residential and commercial growth. This 
includes: 
 

 The approach to assessing and planning for future water needs 

 Collaborative work to effectively plan for future water needs 

 Collaborative work to support the delivery of utilities infrastructure. 
 
Feedback from the committee is sought to influence the objectives of the on-going 
collaborative work through an Integrated Water Management Strategy (see Para 
3.11). 
 
Additionally, answers are provided from Thames Water to a range of pre-provided 
questions from the committee regarding water pressure. Thames Water will also 
attend the Housing Scrutiny Sub-committee to add to the answers provided in 
advance. 

 
Recommendations: 
 
N/a – no decision necessary. 
 
 
1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 N/a – no decision necessary. 
 
 
2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



 
2.1 N/a – no decision necessary. 
 
 
3. DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 
Forward Planning and Collaboration 
 
Borough-wide Planning for Needs: 
 
3.1 The need for future investment into the water network is recognised by 

Thames Water, the Council and the GLA. Alongside developers, all parties 
are working collaboratively to ensure that the future for the whole borough is 
well planned and that the necessary infrastructure is in place to support both 
existing and new residents and businesses. 

 
3.2 The Councils emerging Local Plan, through policy D.ES6 Sustainable Water 

and Wastewater Management, places requirements on developers to ensure 
that there is sufficient capacity in the local water supply and public sewerage 
network to serve development. The policy states that: 
 
“1. Development is required to reduce water consumption: new residential 

developments must achieve a maximum water use of 105 litres per 
person per day and refurbishments and other non-domestic 
development should meet BREEAM water efficiency credits. 

2. New development is required to minimise the pressure on the 
combined sewer network. 

3. Major development is required to demonstrate that the local water 
supply and public sewerage networks have adequate capacity both on 
and off-site to serve the development, taking into consideration the 
cumulative impact of current and proposed development.” 

 Tower Hamlets Draft Local Plan – Policy D.ES6 
 
3.3 Developers are encouraged in the supporting text to the policy to 

communicate early on in the process of designing their scheme, to discuss 
their development proposals and delivery programme with Thames Water. 
This affords Thames Water with the necessary notice to ensure that any 
potential water and wastewater network reinforcement requirements are 
identified and necessary upgrades are undertaken. 

 
3.4 On a site by site basis this is an established and effective process that is 

generally adopted across the development industry. It does not, however, 
negate the need for holistic and long term planning for development in an 
area, supporting good sustainable growth. 

 
3.5 The Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan, which supports the draft Local Plan 

states that further work is needed to ensure the resilient future planning of the 
water network in light of planned high levels of residential and commercial 
growth in the Borough. In particular, there is likely to be considerable growth 
in demand in the Isle of Dogs, Poplar and the east of the Borough, close to 

Page 16



the River Lea. Indeed the GLA’s Opportunity Area Planning Framework and 
supporting Development Infrastructure Funding Study for the Isle of Dogs and 
South Poplar identifies that this may require considerable strategic investment 
in the network. Potentially, enhanced connections from Copper Mills, 11km 
from the Isle of Dogs, may be required to serve the planned growth. Alongside 
this, there are likely to be required local improvements in the area in question. 

 
3.6 Further investigation is required to establish a detailed picture of future 

requirements and to understand when and where interventions may be 
necessary. The same can be said when considering the network for dealing 
with wastewater, including surface water run-off. Enhancements are likely to 
be necessary, but Thames Water has suggested that the network is capable 
of adequately serving near future development. 
 

Collaborative Working to Meet Need: 
 

3.7 Recognising the future challenges facing the water network in the area, the 
Council, the GLA and Thames Water are committed to working collaboratively 
to plan for and ensure timely delivery of enhancements. The three bodies, 
alongside colleagues from the Environment Agency are working to produce 
an Integrated Water Management Strategy for the east / south east of the 
Borough. 

 
3.8 While it is essential that the water network is capable in all areas, in much of 

the borough, where development levels are relatively low, this is sufficiently 
accommodated by local interventions that can be considered on a site by site 
basis by developers and Thames Water. The higher level of growth in the east 
/ south east of the borough will require wider consideration and likely strategic 
interventions alongside local site by site improvements. 

 
3.9 A broad objective of the strategy is to ensure that supply meets demand 

consistently in the future. In achieving this, the strategy will recommend 
opportunities for reducing demand through good water management and 
efficiency. Examples of how this can be achieved could include reducing 
water usage and reducing surface water run-off through rainwater harvesting 
systems in new developments. Other measures may include greywater 
harvesting, green roofs and innovative landscaping of public and private 
spaces. 

 
3.10 Reducing water usage and run-off will not alone ensure that supply meets 

demand. It is acknowledged that enhanced infrastructure will be necessary. 
The strategy will use a shared evidence base to understand when and where 
development is likely to come forward in order that additional infrastructure 
capacity can be introduced in the right places and in good time. 

 
3.11 Early work on the Integrated Water Management Strategy has commenced, 

establishing the detailed evidence base to support the recommendations of 
the document. Further collaboration with wider stakeholders, such as 
landowners and developers, the Canal & River Trust and Port of London will 
be included within the programme to ensure all options for delivery are 

Page 17



considered. Feedback from the Housing Scrutiny Sub-committee on the 
development of the strategy would be welcomed by the group in order 
to assist in shaping an effective document and approach. 

 
3.12 While a formal timetable has not yet been established for the completion of 

the strategy, significant progress is expected in 2019. 
 
Collaborative Working to Ensure Smart Infrastructure Delivery: 

 
3.13 Given the scale of growth in some parts of the borough, again in particular in 

the east / south east, the Council recognises the impact of development and 
the delivery of infrastructure on existing residents and businesses. 
Improvements to utility networks, including the water network can cause 
considerable disruption to the highway and associated public spaces. They 
can also be disruptive through noise and other environmental factors. 
 

3.14 This is a challenge across the multiple growth areas in London and therefore 
the Councils Infrastructure Planning Service sought to engage the GLA and 
other partners to understand best practice and opportunities for shared 
approaches to meeting this challenge. 
 

3.15 The GLA have established an Infrastructure and Delivery Co-ordination Team 
(IDCT). Summarily, the IDCT is seeking to support boroughs in identifying 
solutions and best practice for tackling infrastructure and delivery challenges 
and ensuring timely, sustainable, supported growth. One such challenge they 
are seeking to explore and meet is how utilities delivery can be better co-
ordinated. 
 

3.16 Through collaborative working between the Council and the GLA IDCT, the 
Isle of Dogs and South Poplar has been identified as a location where a focus 
on utilities delivery co-ordination would be productive. A partnership and pilot 
have been formed and the particular initial focus will be on considering how 
utilities infrastructure can best be delivered in this area. 
 

3.17 Initial work has included a workshop with representatives from the local 
development industry; public sector; and a wide range of utilities companies, 
meeting to explore where there may be opportunities for better co-ordination 
and smoother delivery. With the Council committing resources to tackle this 
issue through the Infrastructure Planning Service, the GLA investing their 
time, money and expertise and in-principle buy-in from both utilities and major 
developers, there is a real prospect of enhancing the way in which utilities are 
delivered in the borough. 
 

3.18 This work places the Councils Infrastructure Planning Service as an industry 
leader of innovative work on utilities delivery. The solutions identified through 
this pilot work are intended to deliver not only in Isle of Dogs and South 
Poplar, but also to provide a template and best practice for the rest of the 
Borough and more widely in London. 
 

Page 18



3.19 Complementary work also included as part of the pilot working between the 
GLA IDCT and the Councils Infrastructure Planning Service will seek to 
ensure high quality construction management and logistics as well as plans to 
improve the wider co-ordination of streetworks. 
 

Thames Water Responses to Pre-provided Committee Questions regarding 
Water Pressure 

 
What is TW’s infrastructure plan and maintenance programme (including upgrading 
pipes)?  

 
3.20 Our PR19 submission was not approved by OFWAT and there is substantial 

work ongoing in the business to review and resubmit our plans for 2020-25. 
Our intended programme of work includes the replacement of 650km of the 
worst performing distribution mains (<12” in London generally) and 55km of 
trunk mains (>12” in London generally) as part of a programme of activities 
set to reduce leakage by around 97Ml/d and target the riskiest trunk mains. 
 

3.21 Furthermore, we are installing additional monitoring units across our network 
to detect any potential issues sooner. We are also carrying out a number of 
local and strategic network reinforcements in response to proposed new 
developments, ensuring that we are able to maintain/improve upon our 
existing service levels.   
 

The TW resource management plan and its implementation – how can Tower 
Hamlets help?  

 
3.22 Our WRMP sets out our long term plans to meet the water needs of our 

current and future customers, including seeking to share resources with other 
companies in the South East where this represents better overall value than 
companies developing their own resources. Reducing leakage and per capita 
consumption is a critical element of this and we have set out our plans to 
reduce leakage by 15% (97Ml/d) over the course of next AMP. Thames Water 
are every keen for developments to  consider water efficiency in their design, 
from low consumption appliances to grey water or water recycling schemes 
and we would be keen to discuss further how we can encourage this through 
the planning process. Thames Water can also offer water efficiency 
assistance to the council’s owned non-domestic buildings, through our 
Smarter Business Visit team which undertakes simple water efficiency 
installations and internal plumbing leak fixes. 
 

3.23 It would also help if Thames could have a greater confidence in the 
phasing/likelihood of developments going ahead as far in advance as 
possible, to ensure that we are able to identify and install any network 
reinforcements in advance of developments being built. 

 
How is TW managing water pressure? Is there a water pressure management plan?  

 
3.24 Thames Water have an obligation to meet minimum pressures and flows at 

our customers’ outside stop taps of 10m (or 1 bar) and 9l/m. This is set out in 

Page 19



the Water Industry Act of 1992. Higher water pressures and/or significantly 
fluctuating water pressures can have a detrimental effect on our leakage 
performance and asset life, meaning we may start to see higher burst rates 
from impacted assets. There are locations where higher pressures are 
unavoidable due to the elevation of reservoirs or the topography of our water 
supply zones for example, but there are areas of our network where we are 
able to manage pressures through the installation of pressure control valves, 
which reduce pressure-related leakage by removing excessive network 
pressures whilst ensuring that we meet our customers’ needs. 
 

How is water pressure measured and what constitutes low water pressure? Do TW 
have data on this they can share?  

 
3.25 Water pressure is measured by permanent pressure monitors located across 

our network, which we supplement with temporary loggers to investigate 
particular issues as required. Low water pressure is that which does not meet 
minimum pressures and flows at our customers’ outside stop taps of 10m (or 
1 bar) and 9l/m. This is set out in the Water Industry Act of 1992. If we breach 
this threshold for an hour or more six times in a reporting year (April to April) 
due to an inadequacy of our system, then these properties become reportable 
to our regulator on what is referred to as the DG2 register. 
 

How is TW tackling low water pressure issues on new and existing developments? 
Low and high rises? 

 
3.26 Where we are implementing programmes of actively managing pressures, we 

undertake a thorough tall building study, to understand what boosters exist in 
tall buildings in the area and to install new boosters where properties will be 
impacted by pressure reductions. These boosters become the property of the 
building owners but are installed at Thames’s cost. Where any properties are 
recorded on our DG2 register as having a chronic poor pressure issue, we 
develop a plan to remove the properties, which may involve solutions such as 
network reconfiguration or local boosters. 
 

3.27 Any new development consulted to Thames which may have a detrimental 
impact on pressures within the network is modelled and the necessary 
reinforcements implemented. 
 

Which areas of the borough are complaints on low water pressure the greatest (and 
could this information be provided) and how is this being responded to?  

 
3.28 Thames Water will be able to provide analysis of complaints within the 

borough at the scrutiny session, but this is not available in advance. Low 
pressure contacts may result from a variety of causes including customer 
network issues, Thames Water network issues or customer perception of poor 
pressures. Where chronic low pressure issues are identified as a DG2 issues 
(see above) 

 
In places where old infrastructure has been identified as a problem, what steps have 
been taken to solve it and does the responsibility fall with the council or TW?  

Page 20



 
3.29 Responsibility for our network lies with us and we undertake repair and 

replacement of these assets as required to deliver the performance our 
customers expect whilst maintaining one of the lowest bills of any UK water 
company. 
 

Is there a link between low water pressure and water usage resulting in increased 
water bills?  

 
3.30 Not really. In some instances, customer usage can result in local pressure 

issues. This could be due to a number of issues, such as due to large users 
having uncontrolled take offs from our network, or illegal usage from hydrants. 
Where these are identified, we work with the users where possible to flatten 
usage patterns or to cease illegal usage. There is seldom a link with customer 
bills as we charge a flat rate for units of water throughout the day and all we 
would be doing here is changing the usage pattern, not reducing usage. 
 

Roll out of water saving projects - what success is this having across the borough?  
 

3.31 We have been delivering our Smarter Home Visits to some areas within 
Tower Hamlets, helping residents reduce their water use and reduce both 
water and energy bills.  We have also been fixing internal plumbing leaks, 
such as leaky-loos and dripping taps, free to residents.  These water 
efficiency services will continue as we install more smart water meters in 
Tower Hamlets and across London as part of our Progressive Metering 
Programme.   
 

Households from new developments do not suffer from low water pressure.  Can 
details be provided on the fittings and infrastructural changes put in place when 
building new homes so it can be compared to old structures? 
 
3.32 Response to be provided at the scrutiny session by Thames Water. 

 
Water pressure boosters are being used to solve individual households problems 
mostly in flats. Are there any studies from the Council or TW that show the impact 
that has on the rest of the properties in blocks of flats.  

 
3.33 When TW install boosters, they are normally designed to support the whole 

block and not individual properties, which see an equal benefit. 
 

3.34 We have a statutory requirement to supply water by gravity continuously for 
domestic purposes at a pressure that will; ‘reach the top of the top-most 
storey of every building’ (Water Industry Act 1991 Section 65). If the upper 
floors are above the level that could be supplied by gravity boosters may be 
installed. These boosters are not normally installed/sized by Thames. 
 
 

4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 N/a – no decision necessary. 

Page 21



 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 N/a – no decision necessary. 
 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 N/a – no decision necessary. 
 
7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1 N/a – no decision necessary. 
 
 

____________________________________ 
 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 NONE 
 
Appendices 

 NONE 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
List any background documents not already in the public domain including officer 
contact information. 

 NONE 
 

Officer contact details for documents: 
Matthew Pullen 

Page 22



Infrastructure Planning & the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan 
 

9th April 2019 

 

 

 

 

Matthew Pullen 

Infrastructure Planning Manager 

P
age 23 A

genda Item
 5



 

• Vision & Strategy – Strategic Plan, Local Plan, Council Strategies 

 

• Plan – Infrastructure Delivery Plan (High Level) 

 

• Refine & Detail – Detailed data and studies to focus on solutions 

 

• Masterplan – Regeneration and delivery plans 

 

• Develop – Development of projects and programmes for delivery 

 

• Fund – Overarching with solutions needed by this point 

 

• Deliver – Capital delivery of infrastructure 

 

Planning and Delivering Infrastructure 

P
age 24



Planning and Delivering Infrastructure 

Develop, Fund and Deliver Projects 

and Programmes

Local Plan
Infrastructure Delivery 

Plan

Refine & Detail 

Infrastructure

Masterplanning & 

Delivery Plans

P
age 25



Plan – Infrastructure Delivery Plan, 2017 (High Level) 

 

• Purpose – to set out a high level assessment of infrastructure needs at 

the planning stage to support the Local Plan, Capital Programme and 

Regeneration, covering a broad understanding of: 

 

• Scope 

• Needs – Scale, spatial, phasing 

• Known / planned delivery to meet needs 

• Known funding sources 

• Estimate of funding gap 

• Space to deliver – link to Site Allocations in Local Plan 

• Estimate of who, where, when. 

 

• Responsibility of Infrastructure Planning Service 

 

 

P
age 26



Plan – Cumulative housing development by Ward 

Source: Infrastructure Delivery Plan, 2017 

P
age 27



Plan – Mapping education needs / supply – example education 

Source: Infrastructure Delivery Plan, 2017 

P
age 28



Plan – Planned and potential projects to meet need – example transport 

Source: Infrastructure Delivery Plan, 2017 

P
age 29



Plan – Costs and Funding Gap 

Known funding sources will 

provide income of £1.25bn 

 

Current estimated funding gap of 

£650m 

 

The scale of gap is not unusual 

at the plan stage and may be 

tackled by: 

• Further CIL/S106 funding 

• External funding 

• Prioritisation 

• Cost engineering 

 

Source: Infrastructure Delivery Plan, 2017 

P
age 30



Refine & Detail – Detailed data and studies to focus on solutions 

 

• Purpose – to develop understanding and provide focused assessment 

to enable development of effective solutions and delivery to take place. 

 

• Focused intervention, such as: 

• Specific infrastructure types – Example 1: Utilities in East 

• Spatial areas – Example 1: Utilities in East 

• Additional data – Example 2 – New Occupancy Survey 

 

• Detailed inputs then refine approach to: 

• Scale 

• Phasing 

• Funding (internal and external) 

• Deliverability 

 

• Responsibility of Infrastructure Planning / Regeneration Services 

 

 

P
age 31



Develop & Deliver 

 

• Capital Programme – Focus on delivery in next three years. 

 

• Regeneration Team being established to support development and 

delivery of infrastructure 

 

• Site allocations process used wherever possible to ensure timely 

delivery of infrastructure 

 

• Partnership working with GLA / TfL 

 

• Local Infrastructure Fund to meet local needs 

 

• Responsibility of Service Areas, and Regeneration and Capital 

Delivery Teams 

 

 

P
age 32



NPPF Update and 
Letwin Review on 
Build-Out Rates 

P
age 33 A

genda Item
 6



• Housing White Paper published 7 Feb 2017 

• Draft Revised NPPF published 5 Mar 2018 

• Official Revised NPPF published 24 Jul 2018 

• Minor updates made on 19 Feb 2019 

• TH responded to consultations on the first two 

• NPPF problem – one size fits all – urban and 
rural areas presented with the same policies 

 

NPPF Revision 

P
age 34



• New standardised methodology for calculating 
housing need – but London Borough numbers will 
still be assigned in London Plan. 

• Housing Delivery test – net homes delivered 
against need. From November 2020: 
– <95% - action plan required 

– <85% - 20% buffer added to 5 year supply 

– <75% - Sustainable development presumption invoked 

• More punitive measures than before + increased 
focus on delivery, not just permissions. 

 

 

Housing Need and Delivery 

P
age 35



• Councils need to show a 5 year housing supply, 
or the presumption of sustainable development 
applies. 

• New NPPF makes demonstrating the supply 
more difficult. 

• Can be established in a recently adopted plan, 
or in a subsequent annual position statement 
agreed by Secretary of State. 

• Clear evidence required of deliverability within 
5 years – site allocations, outline permission, or 
permission in principle no longer enough. 

 

Five Year Housing Supply 

P
age 36



• Affordable for rent 
– Social rent 

– Affordable rent 

• Starter homes 

• Discounted market sales – 20% below 
local market value 

• Other affordable routes – shared 
ownership, relative equity loans, rent to 
buy 

 

Affordable Housing - Definitions 

P
age 37



• Removes ability to mandate affordable 
housing contribution on small sites (<10 
units) – aims to make the system simpler 
for small builders, but our emerging policy 
is already quite simple. 

• Requirement for 10% affordable for sale 
on all sites – effectively means all our 
intermediate housing will be for sale, 
rather than rent. 

 

Affordable Housing 

P
age 38



• Transition from individual development 
viability to local plan viability. 

– Benefit – could embed policy requirements 
into land values 

– Risk – could lead to watering down policy 
requirements to improve viability 

• Viability assessments to be made public. 

• If development meets policy requirements, 
no need to submit a viability assessment. 

 

Viability 

P
age 39



• Local Plans should provide housing target 
for Neighbourhood Planning Areas 

• In areas where a recent neighbourhood 
plan with housing targets is in place, the 
threshold for the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development is higher 
– This encourages Councils to support NPs, and 

NPs to include housing policies 

– Currently we have no NPs, but 5 areas where 
they could come forward 

 

Neighbourhood Planning 

P
age 40



• Local Plans must be reviewed every five years 

• Transitional arrangements – plans submitted before 
24 Jan 2019 assessed against old NPPF – our next 
review will be based on new NPPF 

• 10% of housing should be small sites (<1ha) – this 
will be a challenge 

• Supports implementation of minimum densities and 
height extensions 

• Encourages flexible approach to daylight/sunlight 
issues where it would inhibit efficient use of a site 

 

 

Other NPPF Changes 

P
age 41



• Aka, “The Letwin Review” 

• Draft analysis June 2018, final report 
October 2018 

• Aims to address the gap between 
permissions and delivery in areas of high 
housing demand – why are the 
permissions being built so slowly? 

• 14 of 15 case studies were in south east 
England 

 

Independent Review of Build Out 

P
age 42



Permissions vs Delivery 

P
age 43



• Large Sites = 1500 units or more 

• Median build out period  = 15.5 years, 

or 6.5% per year – only 3.2% in London 

• Conclusion – homogeneity of types and 

tenures on these sites is the problem – 

there is a limit on how quickly the 

market can absorb these products 

 

The Problem 

P
age 44



• Legal approach: 

• Primary legislation 
– define large sites as 1500 units, including single local 

plan allocations 

• Secondary legislation 
– allow type, size, and tenure mix to be prescribed as 

reserved matters for large sites 

– require applicants to prepare diversification strategy 

• Planning Policy 
– include assumption that affordable housing should be 

‘high’ on these sites 

– set out diversification principles for these sites 

 

The Solutions (1) 

P
age 45



• Bureaucratic approach: 

• Set up a National Expert Committee to 
arbitrate on appeal cases where the 
level of diversity on site is the main 
issue. 

• Attach diversification conditions to 
government funding until these 
proposals become law. 

 

The Solutions (2) 

P
age 46



• Land Value Approach: 

• LPAs should insist on levels of 

diversity/affordability that will cap land 

values at 10x existing use value 

• Government should encourage more 

Urban Development Corporations to buy 

land at current use value and masterplan it 

with help from Homes England 

 

The Solutions (3) 

P
age 47



• Government response was due in 
February 2019 – now delayed ‘by weeks’. 
Report presents quite an interventionist 
approach, which may not be accepted. 

• Local Plan allocations of over 1500 units: 

– London Dock (1800) 

– Marsh Wall West (2645) 

– Millharbour (2759) 

– Wood Wharf (3300) 

 

Implications for Tower Hamlets (1) 

P
age 48



• TH has a fairly small number of sites 

that are stalled – generally, the market 

in the borough is fairly robust. 

• If national policy changes to ‘force’ us to 

require more affordable housing and 

diverse types and tenures, we would be 

unlikely to object. 

 

Implications for Tower Hamlets (2) 

P
age 49



• Longer discussions with developers 
over appropriate level of diversity and 
affordability – and more appeals? 

• Potential resource implications for 
masterplanning work? 

• If land prices are damped down, could 
this affect housing delivery numbers? 
Will landowners be reluctant to sell? 

 

 

Potential Problems (1) 

P
age 50



• Diversity never fully defined in the report. 

How will the National Expert Committee 

determine appropriate levels of diversity? 

• How would viability concerns interact with 

requirement for more affordable housing? 

• Policy already encourages 

diversity/affordability – but developers 

seem to prefer slow and profitable. 

 

 

Potential Problems (2) 

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Non-Executive Report of the: 

 
 

Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee 

9th April 2019 

 
Report of: Ann Sutcliffe, Interim Corporate Director, Place  

Classification: 
Unrestricted 

Social Housing Landlords Performance Report – Q3 2018/19 

 

Originating Officer(s) Shalim Uddin RP Coordinator  

Wards affected All wards 

 

Executive Summary 

Social Landlords in the borough produce quarterly performance data for key 
customer facing performance indicators so tenants and local residents can be 
assured they are delivering effective and customer focused services. The 
performance report attached at appendix 1 provides cumulative performance data 
ending Q1,2 & 3 for 2018/19 for 14 of the Social Landlords with homes in the 
borough (including THH), who can provide performance data specifically for 
properties they manage in Tower Hamlets. 

 
Recommendations: 
 
The Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee is recommended to:  
 

1. To review and note progress in the performance outturns achieved by 
individual Social Landlords and the overall performance trend. 

 
 
  

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



 
1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 The Chair of the Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee has agreed that the Social 

Landlord Performance information is a quarterly standing item on the 
committee agenda. This provides opportunity for the committee to review and 
note for information the performance data that is reported to the Statutory 
Deputy Mayor also the Cabinet Member for Housing. 

 
 
2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
2.1 Member review of Social Landlord performance to remain exclusively with the 

Cabinet Member for Housing. 
 
 
3. DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 
3.1 Through the Tower Hamlets Housing Forum (THHF), the Council works with 

key Social Landlords who manage social rented stock in the borough. THHF 
through its Performance Management Framework has agreed a suite of key 
performance indicators (PIs); to review and assess performance and drive 
performance improvements though the THHF benchmarking sub group. 
Quarterly performance information is presented to the Statutory Deputy Mayor 
also Cabinet Member for Housing and circulated to the Housing scrutiny Sub 
Committee for information.  Good performance is an indicator of quality 
housing management and supports the Council in ensuring the borough is 
one that residents are proud of and love to live in whilst also supporting 
delivery of partnership priorities. 

 
3.2 Cumulative performance information on the agreed list of measures below is 

attached at appendix 1: 

 % repairs completed in target 

 % respondents satisfied with last completed repair 

 % appointments kept as % of appointments made 

 % properties with a valid gas safety certificate 

 % residents satisfied with how the ASB case was handled 

 % complaints responded to in target 

 % Members Enquiries answered in target 

 Average re-let time in days (General Needs only) 

 % General Needs Income collected 

 % of tall buildings (over 18m) owned by RPs that have an up to date FRA in 
place 
 

3.3  Appendix 1 outlines cumulative performance for the 14 key Social Landlords 
who operate in the borough (including THH) who are able to produce borough 
specific data. The remaining 7 key Social Landlords can only produce regional 
data; therefore performance for these is not included.   

           

Page 54



3.4 Some Registered Providers have made significant improvements in relation 
to the PI’s. This includes:  

 
3.5      Gateway achieving 100% of complaints responded to on time. The previous 

quarter 2 figures indicated they were achieving 88%. Q3 figures now show 
100%, thus an increase of 13.63%. 

  
3.6 Clarion (Ex Circle stock) has seen a 5.45% increase in the PI of appointments 

kept and appointments made seeing figures go from 92.43% to 97.47%. They 
have submitted a report that has been tabled for discussion at the next 
Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee (HSSC) meeting that will update members 
on any issues affecting their performance and any action plans they propose 
to put in place going forward.  

 
 
4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1  There are no direct equalities or diversity implications arising from this report.  
 
 
 
 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 This section of the report is used to highlight further specific statutory 

implications that are either not covered in the main body of the report or are 
required to be highlighted to ensure decision makers give them proper 
consideration. Examples of other implications may be: 

 Best Value Implications, , 

 Environmental (including air quality),  

 Risk Management,  

 Crime Reduction,  

 Safeguarding. 
 
5.2 There are no direct Best Value implications arising from these reports, 

although if performance is further improved for performance indicators 1, 2 
and 3 which relate to repairs, this may lead to improvements in working 
practices that will in turn improve efficiency and potentially reduce costs for 
Social Landlords.   

 
5.3 Another indirect Best Value Implication is a landlord’s ability to ensure its 

general needs income target (rent collection) is achieved. 
 
5.4  The percentage of properties with a valid gas safety certificate directly relates 

to health and safety risks to residents. It is important that statutory compliance 
of 100% is achieved, and that landlord performance in this area shows 
continued improvements.  

 
5.5  The percentage of tall buildings (over 18m) owned by Registered Providers 

that have an up to date Fire Risk Assessments (FRA) in place also has a 

Page 55



direct health and safety impact. It is a statutory requirement to ensure an FRA 
has been completed and is up to date. 

 
5.6   There are no direct environmental implications arising from the report or 
 recommendations. 

 
5.7  Resident satisfaction with the handling of anti-social behaviour cases has an 

indirect relation to crime and disorder reduction matters.    
  
 
6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 This report provides an update for the Housing Scrutiny Sub-Committee on 

the performance of various Registered Providers of Social Housing (RPs) that 
operate within the borough. This includes the comparative data for Tower 
Hamlets Homes which manages the Council’s housing stock. 

 
6.2 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report, however the 

analysis of comparative performance and sharing of best practice between 
members of the Tower Hamlets Housing Forum (THHF) may lead to 
improvements in working processes that will in turn improve efficiency and 
provide the opportunity to reduce costs.   

 
7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1 This report is recommending that the Housing Scrutiny Sub-Committee review   

the performance of individual Social Landlords up to quarter 3 of 2018/2019 
year calendar. 
 

7.2   The Legislative Reform (Regulator Social Housing) (England) Order 2018 
transferred the regulation of social housing landlords from the Homes and 
Communities Agency (HCA) which was abolished in January 2018, to the 
Regulator of Social Housing on 1 October 2018. The objectives of the 
regulator are set out in the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 (as 
amended). The focus of the regulatory activity is on governance, financial 
viability and financial value for money together with the setting of consumer 
standards.  

 
7.3 The regulatory framework for social housing in England from the 1st April 2015     

is made up of: Regulatory requirements (i.e. what Social Landlords need to 
comply with); Codes of practice; and Regulatory guidance. There are nine (9) 
categories of regulatory requirements and these are: 

 
1. Regulatory standards – Economic (i.e. Governance and Financial 

Viability Standard; Value for Money Standard; and Rent Standard) 
2. Regulatory standards – Consumer (i.e. Tenant Involvement and 

Empowerment Standard; Home Standard; Tenancy Standard; and 
Neighbourhood and Community Standard) 

3. Registration requirements 
4. De-registration requirements  

Page 56



5. Information submission requirements  
6. The accounting direction for social housing in England from April 2012  
7. Disposal Proceeds Fund requirements  
8. Requirement to obtain regulator’s consent to disposals 
9. Requirement to obtain regulator’s consent to changes to constitutions. 
 
 

7.4 In addition to registered Social Housing (‘RSH’) regulation, there is a 
Performance Management Framework (‘PMF’) agreed with the Council which 
also reviews the performance of the Social Landlords in key customer facing 
areas.  These are monitored cumulatively every three months against 8 key 
areas that are considered to be important to residents.  This has a direct 
bearing on the Council’s priority to ensure that Social Landlords are delivering 
effective services to their residents, who are also, at the same time, residents 
in the local authority area.  This provides re-assurance for the Council that the 
main Social Landlords in the Borough are delivering effective services to their 
residents. 

 
7.5  The Council has no power to act against any Social Landlord (other than 

 Tower Hamlet Homes (‘THH’) which it monitors already) but one of its 
 Community Plan aspirations is for Tower Hamlets to be a place where 
 people live in a quality affordable housing with a commitment to ensuring 
 that more and better quality homes are  provided for the community.  

 
7.6  The review of the Social Landlords performance though not a legal 

 requirement fits in with the above Community Plan objective and the 
 regulatory standards as stated above. The standards require Social Landlords 
 to co-operate with relevant partners to help promote social, environmental and 
 economic wellbeing in the area where they own properties. 

 
7.7 The review of housing matters affecting the area or the inhabitants in the 
 borough fall within remit of the Housing Scrutiny Sub-Committee and 
 accordingly authorised by the Council’s Constitution.  
 
7.8 When carrying out its functions, the Council must have due regard to the need 

to eliminate unlawful conduct under the Equality Act 2010, the need to 
advance equality of opportunity and the need to foster good relations between 
persons who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t (the public 
sector duty).  

 
____________________________________ 

 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 NONE 
 
Appendices 

1. Social Housing Landlords Performance Report Q3 2018/19 

Page 57



2. Clarion Housing Performance in Tower Hamlets 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

 NONE  
 

Officer contact details for documents: 

 Shalim Uddin RP Coordinator   

Page 58



Appendix 1 

1.  % Repairs 

completed in 

target

2. % 

respondents 

satisfied with 

last completed 

repair

3. % 

appointments 

kept as % of 

appointments 

made

4. % properties 

with a valid gas 

safety 

certificate

5. % residents 

satisfied with 

how the ASB case 

was handled

6. % 

complaints 

responded to 

in target

7. % Members 

Enquiries 

answered in 

target

8. Average relet 

time (days)

9. % General Needs 

Income collected 

(n/i service charges) 

10. % of tall buildings 

(over 18 metres) 

owned by RPs that 

have an up to date FRA 

in place

Quarter 2 General 

Needs Stock Numbers

Clarion (ex-Circle stock) 2018-19  Q2 90.50% 83% 92.43% 99.86% n/a 78% 4.58% 35.2 97.60% 62.5 3,727

Clarion (ex-Circle stock) Q3 93.18% 82% 97.47% 99.94% n/a 69% 48.15% 37.1 98.00% 100 3,725

EastendHomes 2018-19  Q2 91% 94% 97.95% 100% n/a 98.41% 86% 15.60% 93.08% 100 2246

EastendHomes Q3 90% 94% 96.75% 100% n/a 87.30% 87% 18.40% 96.26% 100 2246

Gateway HA 2018-19  Q2 93.75% 79.00% TBA 100% n/a 88.00% 61% 49.7 100% 66 1894

Gateway Housing Association Q3 94.10% 82.86% 45.00% 100% 29.00% 100.00% N/A 57 100.86% 66 1891

L and Q (inc East Thames) 2018-19  Q2 90.60% 87.20% n/a 100% n/a 50% n/a 68.2 n/a 84 1488

L and Q (includes East Thames) Q3 90.90% n/a 100% n/a 55% n/a 69.7 n/a 86 1486

Notting Hill Genesis 2018-19  Q2 89.50% 70.30% 95.00% 100% n/a n/a n/a 49 96.20% n/a 1393

Notting Hill Genesis Q3 TBC 72.50% TBC 99.73% not available not recorded not recorded 103 95.6% not available 1277

One Housing 2018-19  Q2 96.75% 98.24% 97.02% 100% 82.05 83.53% 93.26% 60.70 98.59% 100 2891

One Housing Q3 98.50% 98.24% 97.58% 100% 87.50% 83.00% 92.98% 66.32 97.41% 100 2877

Peabody 2018-19 Q2 n/a 78% n/a 98.00% n/a no target set no target set 28 96.26% 100 1864

Peabody Q3 n/a 83% n/a 98.00% 53% no target set no target set 19 94.14% 100 2058

Poplar HARCA 2018-19 Q2 99.10% 94.80% 96.70% 100% 74.00% 89.70% 98.10% n/a 101.36% 100 5724

Poplar HARCA Q3 98.10% 94.50% 97.00% 100% 77.00% 93.33% 97.67% n/a 102.54% 100 5598

Providence Row HA 2018-19  Q2 96.30% 87.70% 100% 100% n/a 100% 100% 10.5 94.80% 100 97

Providence Row Housing Association Q3 95.50% 85.50% 100% 100% n/a 100% 100% 7.3 95.50% 100 97

Southern Housing Group 2018-19  Q2 n/a 61% n/a 99.99% 32% n/a n/a 21.9 95.20% tbc 1152

Southern Housing Group Q3 n/a n/a n/a n/a tbc 1152

Spitalfields HA 2018-19  Q2 96.25% 97% 99% 100% 100% 100% 100% 21 99.10% n/a 850

Spitalfields Housing Association Q3 96.77% 95% 99% 100% 100% 100% 100% 12 99.70% n/a 850

Swan HA 2018-19  Q2 98.86% 94% 99.46% 100% 100% 100% 100% 12.8 85.64% 100 1597

Swan Housing Association Q3 97.90% 93% 99.61% 100% 67% 100% 100% 13.9% 97.04% 100 1597

Tower Hamlets Community Housing  Q2 90% 81.0% 97.0% 100% n/a 93% 90% n/a 97% 100 2,005

Tower Hamlets Community Housing   Q3 84% 77.0% 98.0% 100% n/a 92% 91% 23 96% 100 2005

Tower Hamlets Homes   Q2 97% 88.7% 93.5% 100% 52.0% 95% 90% 19.32 97% 100 11,409

Tower Hamlets Homes Q3 97.72% 88.60% 93.83% 100% 45% 94.21% 89.53% 20.48 100% 100 11,409

n/a = The information is either not a PI measured by the RP; measured in a different way or is not available.

NR = The Data was not requested by the borough for the period in question.

Organisation

                                                   Q2 & Q3 RP Performance Figures 2018/19

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

REPORT TO: London Borough of Tower Hamlets Housing 
Scrutiny Committee  

AGENDA ITEM: 7 

AUTHOR: Catherine Kyne, Regional Director (North 
London) 

Lisa Buckingham, Head of Housing (East 
London) 

MEETING DATE: 9 April 
2019 

TITLE: Clarion Housing performance in Tower Hamlets 

PURPOSE / 
SUMMARY: 

To provide the scrutiny committee with an overview of our performance and 
our plans for the future.   

 

1.0 Background  

1.1 Since the merger between Circle Housing and Affinity Sutton in November 
2016, a range of interventions have been made to improve the poor 
performance in the area and to mitigate the impact of years of under 
investment.   

  

1.2 Our key focus has been on improving core services, relationships with our 
partners and residents and investing in the community.  In the year after 
merger we knocked on around 2,000 doors in the local areas to speak with 
residents about their concerns.  We’ve also had regular meetings with the 
elected representatives for the area, Mayor and Cabinet Member.   This 
report outlines where we are with performance currently, what improvements 
we still need to make and some of the wider work we’re doing in the borough 
which is not reflected within the performance reports.       

  

2.0 Overview of THFF Benchmarking performance  

2.1 Clarion is a member of the Tower Hamlets Housing Forum and as such, 
provides information on performance on a quarterly basis.  This shows 
variation in performance between landlords.  The performance for 2018/19 is 
shown in the table at 2.3 of this report.  We have also included the 2016-17 
performance, which began prior to the merger.  

  

2.2 It is important to note that the methodology used by each provider to 
calculate performance may vary slightly.  For example, how satisfaction 
surveys are completed will vary across many factors including regularity, 
whether these are completed internally or externally and the questions 
asked.   

  

2.3  2016-17 Q1 Q2 Q3 

% of repairs completed in target  86.57 91.92 90.5 93.18 

% respondents satisfied with last 
completed repair 

67 79.37 83 81.9 

% of appointments kept as a % of 
appointments made 

89.79 89.73 92.43 97.47 

% properties with a valid gas 
safety certificate 

99.99 100 99.86 99.94 

% complaints responded to in 
target 

43 69 78 69.1 

% Members’ Enquiries answered 53.59 30.49 45.8 48.1 

Page 61



in target 

Average relet time (days) NR 33 35.2 37.1 

% General Needs Income 
collected  

NR  97.6 98 

% of tall buildings (over 18m) 
owned by RPs that have an up to 
date FRA in place 

NR 81.25 62.5 100 

 

  

2.4 The rest of this report will focus on these areas of performance, plus a 
section on the wider work we’re doing to improve the services we provide.   

  

3.0 Repairs performance 

3.1 Repairs performance has been a significant issue for several years having 
deteriorated under the former Circle organisation.  The figures in this report 
only relate to reactive repairs performance.   

  

3.2 Mitie took over the contract and improved the performance based on that 
previously delivered by Kier.  However, performance was still not as good as 
within the rest of the Clarion Housing Group and in June 2018 we took the 
decision to bring the service in-house.  This is in line with the model we have 
in place across for 90,000 properties outside of North London.  The Clarion 
Response contract was mobilised quickly and they took over the service on 
12 November 2018.  We are still in the mobilisation phase and expect to 
stabilise the service by July 2019. 

  

3.3 Repairs completed within target:  This is measured by determining the 
percentage of orders for Emergency Works (other than Communal Repairs) 
that were completed within 24 hours and Routine Works that were 
completed within 28 days.  We have interim targets in place while we 
mobilise the new service.  Our interim target is to complete 90% of 
emergency orders within 24 hours and 85% of routine orders within 28 days.  
From 1 June 2019 the service will move to contractual target with the targets 
for emergencies increasing to 98% and routine repairs increasing to 95%. 

  

3.4 Resident satisfied with last completed repair:  We complete a monthly 
customer satisfaction survey through an external organisation, The 
Leadership Factor.  They survey residents who have had a repair completed 
within the period.  We have seen a slight dip in Q3, which was expected as 
we mobilised our new service and inherited 600 jobs from the previous 
service provider.  Our interim target for customer satisfaction is 80%.  The 
most recent survey (January 2019 repair completions) shows satisfaction at 
79.9%.  As we stabilise the service and introduce new ways of working, 
which include offering an appointment at the first point of contact; sending a 
text message to confirm the appointment immediately after the repair is 
logged; sending a further text message the day before the appointment to 
remind the tenant we will be attending and lastly calling the tenant when we 
are en-route to their property to confirm an estimate time of arrival; we 
expect to see the level of satisfaction improve and reach our contractual 
target of 85% or higher. 

  

3.5 Appointments made and kept:  This is measured by identifying the total 
number of appointments for Responsive Repairs (for works other than 

Page 62



emergency works or communal repairs) and of those, how many were kept 
(where the date and time of the attendance matches that of the appointment 
and time slot booked).  During the mobilisation period our interim target is 
80%.  Our quarter 3 performance was well above this at 97.47%.  Again as 
we stabilise the service we would expect to sustain this level of service.  Our 
contractual target is 95%. 

  

3.6 The new repairs service is performing as we would expect during the early 
period following a mobilisation. We TUPE’d staff from Mitie and Wates and 
are currently embedding new ways of working and undertaking a significant 
amount of training which will improve the service in the medium term.     

  

4.0 Complaints and Members’ Enquiries  

4.1 At the point of merger we had very high levels of complaints and members’ 
enquiries, largely driven by poor responsive repairs performance and issues 
with the gas contract.    

  

4.2 Our target is to respond to complaints within an average of 10 working days.  
This recognises that some complaints are more complicated, particularly 
with complex repairs cases, which take longer than two weeks to resolve.  
The figures in the report show the percentage of complaints which are 
answered within 10 working days.  For January and February 2019, we had 
an average complaint resolution time of 9 working days, which is within our 
own target.  Residents are kept updated throughout the complaint process 
including what will happen next and the timescales for this happening.  An 
example of queries which might take longer to resolve would include where 
roofing works – which normally require scaffolding – are needed.   We are 
focusing on improving our complaints resolution time and answering simple 
queries as quickly as possible.   

  

4.3 Across Tower Hamlets, at the end of February 2019, we had 33 open Stage 
1 complaints which is 1 per 175 properties.    

  

4.4 Progress has also been made compared to last year with a 19% reduction in 
open complaints compared to complaint levels in January and February 
2018.  We don’t have reliable data for January and February in previous 
years because of the way Circle recorded this information, but we know the 
volumes have come down significantly.   

  

4.5 With Members’ Enquiry performance there was an error in the information 
provided for Q2 2018-19.  The report showed as 4.58% enquiries answered 
within timescales, whereas this should have been 45.8%.  Again our 
corporate target is to answer this type of enquiry as quickly as possible, but 
within an average of 10 working days.  In January and February 2019 we 
had an average resolution time of 10 working days.   

  

4.6 One of the issues inherited from Circle was very poor member enquiry 
responses which did not address the issues raised.  This led to lots of 
frustration from elected representatives and their constituents, and lots of 
follow-on enquiries were generated.  We have focussed on improving the 
quality of the responses and on answering all of the questions raised fully.  
This has sometimes led to longer response times, but means a 

Page 63



comprehensive reply is provided.  All responses are now also checked by a 
senior member of staff, at least at Head of Service level, to improve quality.  

  

4.7 Compared to January and February 2018, we have seen a 74% reduction in 
open member enquiries and a 44% reduction in member enquiries received.  
This demonstrates a positive direction of travel.     

  

4.8 Our complaints process works in stages.  Stage 0 only applies to responsive 
repairs complaints.  Where a repairs complaint is received, this is passed 
directly to Clarion Response to give them the opportunity to resolve.  If they 
are unable to resolve the issue within 10 working days, then the complaint 
escalates to Stage 1.  All other complaints start the complaints process at 
Stage 1.  If after the Stage 1 resolution has been provided, and the resident 
remains unhappy, they have the opportunity to escalate this to Stage 2.  A 
Stage 2 request is reviewed by a senior manager, at a Head of Service level 
or above.  They will review the resolution provided at Stage 1 and identify if 
any adjustments are needed.  Following this, if the resident remains unhappy 
they can escalate their concern to the Ombudsman.   

  

4.9 We’ve received three maladministration determinations so far from the 
Ombudsman service for Tower Hamlets this financial year.  These relate to 
previous years because of the timeframe that the Ombudsman is operating 
within.  So far we haven’t received any maladministration determinations 
related to 2018/19 logged cases.  There is currently one case from Tower 
Hamlets under consideration by the Ombudsman that we are aware of.  90% 
of our cases referred to the Housing Ombudsman are closed without 
investigation by the body.  This is 10% better than the landlord average.  The 
ratio of cases determine as either a service failure of maladministration is 1 
to every 1924 properties.   

  

4.10 The breakdown of open complaints and members enquiries by category, at 
the end of February: 
 

Category 
Stage 
0 

Stage 
1 

Stage 
2 

Member 
Enquiries 

Ombudsman 

Aftercare  1    

Customer Accounts  1    

Customer Service       

Compliance  1 1   

Gas & Heating 1 4  1  

Planned Investment  3    

Day to Day Repairs 8 19 4 7  

Service Charges  2    

Housing  2  4  

 9 33 5 12 0 
 

  

4.11 We completed some analysis of our complaints and Member’s Enquiry 
figures.  We identified that we had a high proportion of households who had 
contacted us multiple times with either a complaint or a member enquiry. To 
investigate the underlying cause, we have completed joint visits involving our 
housing and repairs team to try and improve the relationship and identify any 
long-standing, difficult to resolve issues.   

Page 64



  

5.0 Relet time  

5.1 Our relet performance worsened during Q3 to an average of 37.1 days.  We 
expect this to improve in the next quarter as our repairs contractor has 
significantly improved their performance.  Performance of the repairs side of 
the void team has improved from 23.5 days with Mitie, down to 11 days now 
with Clarion Response.     

  

6.0 Income collection  

6.1 Our income collection performance is good. In addition to collection rent we 
also provide a range of support for people who are struggling financially to 
help them stay in their home.   

  

6.2 We have a team of four dedicated Welfare Benefits Advisors which sit in our 
Customer Accounts Team.  They work closely with the Customer Accounts 
Specialists assisting with benefit claims at application stage, and where 
backdating of housing benefit is required.   

  

6.3 We also work with Account Three which is a Debt Advice service specifically 
for residents in Tower Hamlets.  They are a third party organisation which 
works out of our Bow office four times a week.  Between April 2018 and 
February 2019 they’ve worked with 146 tenants and gained £65k in benefits 
for our residents in this period.  They specialise in supporting our vulnerable 
residents and also offer advice in multiple languages.  We make referrals to 
the service, and tenants can also self refer.  Clarion funds this programme.   

  

6.4 Our housing management team has also improved their relationship with the 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets’ Homelessness Prevention Team.  They 
attended our office earlier this financial year to meet the team, and to explain 
the services and support they provide.  This improved partnership working 
has prevented several evictions already.   

  

7.0 Fire safety 

7.1 We’ve got a comprehensive approach to fire safety and it was one of our 
early priorities following the merger to ensure that performance improved in 
legacy Circle stock.  Consequently we re-commissioned all Fire Risk 
Assessments to ensure they were fit for purpose in late 2016, just before the 
formal merger, across former Circle stock.  Our focus has been on our high-
risk buildings, rather than just high-rise buildings.  The approach is based on 
the level of risk for each building and focuses a lifetime approach to fire 
safety from construction to management.  We have a high level of internal 
expertise with a dedicated fire safety team.  We use third party accredited 
contractors to complete work with oversight from this team.       

  

7.2. Fire Risk Assessments:  All of our Fire Risk Assessments are in place for the 
stock in Tower Hamlets, and we have a comprehensive programme for 
reassessment on either  a one year or three year cycle based upon the risk 
of the building. We have a 100% compliance rate for FRA completion.  This 
performance is regularly monitored.   

  

7.3 Any remedial actions which arise from our FRA managed in a structured and 
planned way.  We are on target to complete all their housing actions which 

Page 65



are mainly problems with residents sorting items in communal areas.  

  

7.4 Buildings above 18m:  We have a programme of completing repairs or 
upgrades to our stock in Tower Hamlets and have now completed all fire 
safety work to buildings 10 storeys or higher.  We are due to complete all 29 
buildings in Tower Hamlets which are 6 to 9 storeys in the next quarter. 
Works have included fire stopping and fitting new fire doors or upgrading 
existing ones.  Residents were also provided with building specific fire safety 
information about their block.    

  

7.5 Sheltered and supported schemes: These schemes provide homes for some 
of our most vulnerable residents.  We have five schemes within the borough 
and we have completed a full assessment of each building in line with the 
Fire Safety in Specialised Housing guidance.  We have completed the works 
on three of these schemes, and have a contractor on site at the other.  The 
final scheme will have contractors on site by mid June 2019.   Works have 
included fitting a new fire detection system in each flat, which interlinks with 
the warden call system in the scheme, compartmentation works in loft 
spaces as well as fitting improved doors. 

  

7.6 Converted street properties:  These buildings often date to the Victoria era 
and were originally built as a single home.  These were then sub-divided into 
individual flats during the last century to provide more homes, often for social 
rent.  We have completed works in 41 converted street properties in Tower 
Hamlets where we have fitted an Aico interlinked fire detection system made 
up of smoke detectors and heat detectors.  

  

7.7 Cladding:  We only own one block above 18m with a form of combustible 
cladding comprising of a small quantity of timber cladding on the top façade 
of the building.   We are in the process of removing this.    

  

7.8 Other buildings at the same site are identified as having ACM and some also 
have a similar material called High Pressure Laminate (HPL).  All of these 
buildings are below 18m.  However, we have been checking the buildings to 
ensure the cladding was installed correctly and have the original builder back 
on site undertaking remedial repairs.  This work is being supervised by a 
specialist consultant to make sure it’s carried out to the appropriate 
standard.  We have a security team providing a fire watch in place as a 
precaution.    

  

7.9 We have identified fire safety concerns at a block in Bow. We have taken the 
decision to move residents to new homes on a permanent basis due to the 
extensive and disruptive nature of the works potentially required.  We have 
worked closely with the LFB and with the Council and other key stakeholders 
during this period.  As a precautionary measure, we installed a fire alarm to 
support the evacuation of the building in the event of a fire.  In addition, we 
have a permanent waking watch to support residents in the event of a fire. 
All of these mitigation actions have been agreed in full consultation with the 
fire service.   We have kept residents fully updated throughout this process 
and have create tailored decant packages for each household to support 
them with this move.   We have also made sure that local Councillors have 
been kept updated.  At the time of reporting of the 49 units we have moved 4 

Page 66



households to alternative accommodation, 6 have offers and we are working 
with the remaining 39 to secure accommodation that meets their needs. 

  

9.0 Approach to ASB management   

9.1 At the beginning of the financial year, Clarion created a new Tenancy 
Specialist service.  This specialist team is responsible for carrying out 
investigations for all high risk ASB, social housing fraud and other complex 
tenancy management cases.  The North London team currently comprises of 
6 Tenancy Specialists, with two officers specifically managing cases across 
Tower Hamlets.  This team is likely to grow and we expect to appoint two 
additional Tenancy Specialists during Q2 of 2019/20. 

  

9.2  There have been 262 reported cases of ASB (YTD) across Clarion’s stock in 
Bow (at the end of January 2019 there were 58 live high risk ASB cases 
across our Tower Hamlets stock).  The team has a collaborative working 
relationship with the local Safer Neighbourhood Team and youth service 
providers and we take a partnership approach to dealing with these issues.  
Where criminal activity is involved, we expect the Police to lead but we will 
provide assistance wherever possible.  For example, last year we helped the 
Police to secure a Dispersal Zone to prevent a potential gang dispute and 
we spoke with local residents to reassure them about the increase Police 
activity in the area.  We have consistently taken proactive legal action 
against residents that have demonstrated threatening behaviour towards 
residents or staff.  In the most serious of cases our Tenancy Specialists 
apply for injunctions on a without notice basis, often without legal 
representation.  This approach not only enables our staff to provide legal 
protection for our residents within days of a serious incident, but also 
enables our enforcement team to achieve greater value for money in 
delivering safer communities, whilst supporting the police’s action.    

  

9.3 Our Tenancy Specialists work collaboratively with the Police and other 
statutory agencies in delivering reasonable and proportionate interventions.  
Currently, the Tenancy Specialists are following up on arrests made during 
Operation Continuum by pursuing two possession claims using the Absolute 
Ground for possession.  A further possession claim using the Absolute 
Ground for possession is also being progressed following a serious stabbing 
incident near Roman Road during 2018.  The Tenancy Specialist team has 
also worked collaboratively with our internal fire safety teams, the police and 
a leading supplier of fire safety and security products (Gerda) to pilot a new 
fire access key to our developments located within ASB hotspots.  This was 
in response to customer feedback that unauthorised individuals were gaining 
access using LFB ‘drop-keys’, which are easily and cheaply purchased 
online.  Within the first week of launching the pilot, our Tenancy Specialist 
team was able to prevent drug dealers from gaining access into one of our 
blocks which also led to the recovery of approximately £1000 worth of 
cannabis.  This had been hidden in the suspended ceiling in the communal 
area. 

  

9.4 Clarion Futures (our community investment team) and representatives from 
our Tenancy Specialist service are also at the centre of developing a new 
partnership amongst G15 RPs designed to address serious youth violence 
across London (Serious Youth Violence Housing Network).  This project, 

Page 67



which is still in its infancy, will be adopting the public health approach to 
tackling youth violence. 

  

10.0 Community investment  

10.1 Clarion Futures is our dedicated community investment charity.  They 
provide support focused in four key areas: employment support, financial 
and digital inclusion, communities and young people.   

  

10.2 Employment Support:  We are running the Love London Working 
Programme in the borough which means residents can access a range of 
support to get into work.  This includes advice and guidance, support with 
CVs, providing training and financial support to travel to interviews.  We also 
provide support when a resident has got into work so they can buy clothes 
and other essentials.  We run this service mainly from The Eastside Youth & 
Community Centre.  We are also working closely in partnership with the 
Council including WorkPath and the families’ service.   

  

10.3 The Communities Team continue to provide a comprehensive programme 
across the Borough, including: 

 Roman Road Adventure Playground (recently completely 
redecorated) with 200 regular users enjoying after-school and holiday 
activities in a safe, creative environment; 

 Spotlight continue to provide regular after-school positive activities for 
young people from the Eastside Centre in Bow as part of the LBTH 
youth contract; 

 Purple Moon Children’s Theatre programme for younger residents;  

 Edible Bow project, based in Ranwell West;  

 Tredegar Community Centre hosts a sewing Club, Women’s Arabic 
classes, Short-mat bowls, Geezers Club, and bingo;  

 Francis Lee Community Centre is a base for Weight Management 
classes, Art Group,  West Indian Social Club, Sparkles Health club 
and Just Be Active sessions; 

 Butley Court sees the regular Bow Bengali Forum; Bow Belles 
activities, bingo, line dancing, Chair-based exercise and yoga 
sessions. Undergoing complete refurbishment.  

  

10.4 The Clarion Futures Money Team offers for Clarion residents living in Tower 
Hamlets include: 

 Step Change Debt Charity, offering telephone debt advice;  

 British Heart Foundation – offering a discount on furniture;  

 In-house Money Guidance service, which supports residents with a 
wide range of money issues including: budgeting; challenging bills; 
telephone and face-to-face energy advice; grants for household 
goods; preparing for debt advice; obtaining better deals; checking 
entitlements; a universal phone offer backed up by in-home support 
for residents in more vulnerable situations – particularly those affected 
by fuel poverty; proactive calls at key life events to anticipate 
problems before they escalate e.g. moving to universal credit, moving 
home, entering work. 

  

10.5 Clarion Futures Digital Team offers an extensive programme of support to 
residents to help them get online safely and securely and learn to use the 

Page 68



internet as an everyday tool.  Service offers include: 

 delivering engaging quality digital skills training to groups in local 
areas through a combination of  courses, workshops and accredited 
training; 

 Providing bespoke digital skills training on a one to one basis for 
people in their own homes when they are unable to get out and about;  

 Developing a network of more than 200 volunteer Digital Champions 
and providing quality placements to them on digital skills courses, in 
sheltered schemes, community centres and supporting people into 
work and self-employment and energy awareness. These skills 
enable volunteers to provide quality support to peers on a one to one 
basis;  

 Digital Grants of up to £5,000 are awarded to community partners 
who can support residents  to get online in their local communities. 

 Seven volunteer Digital Champions are supporting our work at 
Eastside Youth and Community Centre 

 We are hosting MIND at Eastside  from 4 February 2019 to 25 March 
2019, every Monday; 

 We will be delivering an Online Safety with Parental Controls 
Workshop  in April at the Bethnal Green Estate; 

 There is a weekly programme of activities at the Eastside centre 
including: Digital Skills and Job Club drop-ins. 

  

11.0 Resident involvement  

11.1 We have a dedicated Resident Involvement Team that  works closely with 
our frontline teams to involve residents in improving the services we deliver.  
There is a range of ways to get involved including national, regional and 
local opportunities.  

  

11.2 Regional Scrutiny Committee:  The RSC has three members from the 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets.  Each of the regional committees 
focuses on a different area of service to review in detail.  At their February 
meeting our region’s committee have selected to focus on the customer 
journey when contacting Clarion.  As part of their review, they will look at 
performance, policy, spend time with staff and complete surveys of other 
residents.  They’ll also benchmark with other HAs.  Once they’ve completed 
their review, they will submit a final report to the Housing Association Board 
(which contains resident members).   

  

11.3 Community Panel:  Following the merger of Old Ford Housing Association 
with Clarion Housing Association we have established a Community Panel.  
Whilst still in its early stages this Panel will focus on improving the 
community and has been awarded funding of £100k per year for the next two 
years.  The Panel have decided to fund an apprenticeship post, with the aim 
of recruiting a local person, to support them with this community 
development work.  

  

11.4 Residents’ Associations:  We work with 6 Residents’ Associations in Tower 
Hamlets although not all of these are formally recognised.  We value these 
relationships and are looking at ways that we can expand on the number of 
Residents’ Associations in the borough.   

  

Page 69



11.5 Winter Warmer visits:  During the colder months we trailed a new way of 
engaging with our residents.  We knew that during the winter months many 
elderly residents have less contact with others, and sometimes don’t have 
adequate heating, food or support.  In December 2018 our team visited 18 
residents over the age of 80 in the borough.  We checked on their welfare 
and made referrals to support services we provide including energy advice 
and our handy person service.   

  

11.6 Online engagement:  We are trailing ways of involving people outside of 
more traditional forums.  We held a web chat last year where one of our fire 
safety experts was available to answer questions from residents on a block 
with combustible cladding.  We’re also holding another one in March for a 
block which is experiencing issues with crime and ASB.    

  

11.7 Blocks Inspectors:  We’re improving the way that we deliver estate services.  
Part of the changes we’re making will involve inspectors being recruited in 
blocks who can give us their views on cleaning standards.  Each block will 
be graded Gold, Silver or Bronze by a manager, and by a resident inspector 
where one is in place.  If there’s a discrepancy in the scores, a peer review 
will take place.  Where a bronze score is given, an improvement plan will be 
triggered.  

 
 
 
 

 

Page 70



Non-Executive Report of the: 

 
 

Housing Scrutiny Sub-Committee 

9th April 2019 

 
Report of:  
Mark Baigent, Interim Divisional Director, Housing and 
Regeneration 
 
Councillor Sirajul Islam, Deputy Mayor for Housing 
  

Classification: 
[Unrestricted] 

Strategic Plan reporting Q1-Q3 2018/19 – Extract from the Cabinet report: 
activities and measures relating to housing 

 

Executive Summary 

This report provides the Housing Scrutiny sub-committee with an update on the 
delivery and implementation of the activities and measures relating to Housing from 
the council’s Strategic Plan 2018/19 up to the end of quarter 3 (December 2018). 
 
 

 
Recommendations: 
 
The Committee is recommended to: 
 

1. Note the progress in delivering Strategic Plan activities and the 
performance of the strategic measures up to the quarter 3 period relating 
to Housing. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 71

Agenda Item 8



1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 The council’s Performance & Accountability Framework sets out the process 

for monitoring the timely and effective delivery of the Strategic Plan to improve 
outcomes for residents.  
 

1.2 This report promotes openness, transparency and accountability by enabling 
Housing Scrutiny sub-committee members to track progress of activities and 
outcomes relating to Housing that impact on our community.  

 
 
2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

 
2.1 Housing Scrutiny sub-committee can decide not to review the performance 

information. This is not recommended as Members have a key role to review 
and challenge underperformance and also utilise performance information to 
inform resource allocation. 

 
 
3. DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 
3.1 Background 

 
3.2 This report provides the Housing Scrutiny sub-committee with an update on 

the delivery and implementation of the council’s Housing related Strategic 
Plan activities and measures for 2018/19 up to the end of quarter 3 
(December 2018).   

 
3.3 Performance summary 

 
3.4 At the end of quarter 3 all of the Housing related activities are considered to 

be on target and are expected to deliver by the end of the financial year.  
 
3.5 There are six performance indicators relevant for Housing Scrutiny sub-

committee.  Performance is shown in detail in Appendix 1 and shows our 
position at the end of the Q3 period.   
 
Proportion of affordable housing secured through the planning process 
– at the end of Q3, this measure was marginally off target; however 
performance has improved in the long and short term.   
 
Families re-housed from overcrowded conditions – target exceeded 
 
Effectiveness of homelessness prevention – target exceeded 
 
Affordable homes completed – 322 affordable homes were completed as at 
end of December 2018; missing the in-year target of 874.  This is primarily the 
result of slippage on two Canary Wharf Group schemes. 
 
No targets have been set for these two measures 

Page 72



 
Households living in temporary accommodation – at the end of December 
2018 there were 1,862 households living in temporary accommodation.  This 
represents a slight increase since the previous period (quarter 2) but an 
improvement over the long term. 
 
Resident satisfaction with the area – this is an annual resident survey 
measure.  The 2019 survey will be out in the field in March 2019. 

 
4. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The council’s Strategic Plan is focused on meeting the needs of the diverse 

communities living in Tower Hamlets and ensuring that everyone can play 
their part in a vibrant and cohesive community. The strategic outcomes and 
supporting activities are designed to reduce inequalities and to foster 
community cohesion. Equalities considerations are embedded in all outcomes 
of the Strategic Plan with specific actions focusing on areas of inequality 
identified through the Borough Needs Assessment being addressed under 
Outcome 4 - Inequality is reduced and people feel that they fairly share the 
benefits from growth. 

 
 
5. OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 This section of the report is used to highlight further specific statutory 

implications that are either not covered in the main body of the report or are 
required to be highlighted to ensure decision makers give them proper 
consideration. The following implications are of specific relevance to quarterly 
performance reporting: 
 

 Best Value Implications,  

 Consultations, 

 Environmental (including air quality),  

 Risk Management,  

 Crime Reduction,  

 Safeguarding. 
 
5.2 Best Value (BV) Implications 

 
5.2.1 Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 requires the council as a best 

value authority to “make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in 
the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness”. Monitoring of performance 
information and acting on the findings is an important way in which that 
obligation is being fulfilled. 

 
5.3 Risk management implications 

 
5.3.1 In line with the council’s risk management strategy, the information contained 

within the strategic indicator monitoring will assist the Cabinet, Corporate 

Page 73



Directors and relevant service managers in delivering the ambitious targets 
set out in the Strategic Plan. Regular monitoring reports will enable Members 
and Corporate Directors to keep progress under regular review. 

 
 

6. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 This report updates the Housing Scrutiny sub-committee on the delivery and 

implementation of the activities and measures relating to Housing in the 
Council’s Strategic Plan 2018/19 to the end of Quarter 3 (December 2018).  
There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations of 
this report. 
 
 

7. COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1 The report provides performance information. It is consistent with good 

administration for the council to consider monitoring information in relation to 
plans that it has adopted in order to achieve best value.   
 

7.2 When considering its performance, the council must have due regard to the 
need to eliminate unlawful conduct under the Equality Act 2010, the need to 
advance equality of opportunity and the need to foster good relations between 
persons who share a protected characteristic and those who do not (the 
public sector equality duty).  The council’s targets are formulated by reference 
to its public sector equality duty and monitoring performance against those 
targets should help to ensure they are delivered. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 NONE 
 
Appendices 

 Appendix 1: Strategic Plan reporting Q1-Q3 2018/19 – extract from Cabinet 
reports: activities and measures relating to Housing. 

 
Background Documents – Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)(Access 
to Information)(England) Regulations 2012 

 None 
 
Officer contact details for documents: 
N/A 
 

Page 74



 

1 

 

Appendix 1 
 
 
 
 

Strategic Plan Reporting 
 

Q1 to Q3 2018/19  
 

Extract from the Cabinet report: activities and measures relating to Housing 
 

 

 

P
age 75



 

2 

 

 

 Outcome 4 Inequality is reduced and people feel that they fairly share the benefits from growth 

We want our residents to have opportunities and the support they need to be free from poverty and to enjoy the benefits of a prosperous borough. In Tower 
Hamlets the greatest inequalities are experienced by people in terms of their health, employment and housing. Poverty is often the underlying challenge and 
close to a third of children are living in families below the poverty line - the highest rate nationally and well above the London average. But people also 
experience systemic inequalities, needing support to improve their household income and to overcome barriers to having better health, career opportunities 
and decent housing.  
The number of people claiming in work benefits has increased and Welfare Reform is estimated to affect over 40,000 (45 per cent) of all working age 
households in the borough.[1] Through our Tackling Poverty Fund we will continue to protect those residents struggling to make ends meet and provide more 
support for schemes to help residents out of poverty and into employment.  
The benefit cap has made it very difficult for workless households to be able to find or maintain affordable accommodation within the borough. We will strive 
to improve access to affordable housing for residents through our actions to further increase the number of homes. Our adult learning and employment skills 
offer will include targeted provision for those furthest from the labour market, providing support towards decent employment for those in most need.   
 
 

P
age 76



 

3 

 

 

 M4.4 Proportion of affordable housing secured through the planning process 

The council has a policy that 35% of all habitable rooms in new developments of ten units or more are expected to be classed as affordable (below market 
rent or intermediate housing such as shared ownership). This measure is the percentage of habitable rooms classed as affordable based on planning 
permissions granted. The measure is cumulative and includes all relevant planning permissions granted in the year to date. This specific measure is not 
looking at affordable homes actually built but instead considers how effective the council is at requiring developers to meet their affordable housing 
obligations. 

Lead member Last update 
Short term trend 

arrow 
Long term trend 

(DOT) 

Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Air Quality Q3 2018/19 
  

Lead officer Type Contextual measure Target Actual RAG rating 

Divisional Director, Planning and Building Control Strategic No 35.0% 34.7% 
 

Red 

Performance data trend chart Latest note 

 

Over the last quarter there have been a number of planning permissions granted for 
large residential led developments which have secured policy compliant affordable 
housing offers. This is good news and represents a significant upturn from earlier in the 
year, demonstrating the council's robust approach to assessing planning applications. 
In addition, a 100% affordable housing scheme at Shetland Road was permitted as part 
of the Council’s home building programme. The latest position falls just short of the 
target of 35% and represents a significant improvement on the position at the end of 
September 2018. We have also updated data for September 2018, during which an 
additional permission was granted. This has improved the Quarter 2 as well as the 
Quarter 3 outturn. 

 

P
age 77



 

4 

 

 

Strategic plan delivery 
 
 
RAG   Activity Note 

 
Activity 4.3 We will use our planning powers to 

secure affordable and accessible 
housing within new developments 

Update for Q1 – Q3 
 
Our new Local Plan sets ambitious affordable and accessible housing targets. The plan has 
recently been reviewed by a Planning Inspector and we expect to formally adopt it in the spring. At 
the moment, we continue to assess planning applications against existing policies and where 
decisions are made by the council, we have successfully secured high levels of affordable housing 
 

 
  P

age 78



 

5 

 

 

•  Outcome 6 People live in good quality affordable homes and well-designed neighbourhoods 

We want the borough to be a place where people are proud to live and enjoy their lives. Accessing good quality, affordable housing is an ongoing challenge in 
a borough which has a fast growing population, low income levels for many households and a fast growing private rented sector with high private rents and 
house prices. Maximising the delivery of affordable homes and improving the quality and management across all housing tenures is therefore paramount.  
We will continue to increase the supply and delivery of affordable homes by building new council housing, supporting the delivery of new housing at 
affordable rent levels by registered providers, and maximising the number of affordable homes secured through the planning process. We will continue to 
drive up the quality of housing across all tenures, including the private sector, through increased licensing and enforcement, and will improve standards 
across social housing through stronger management.  
We will refresh our approach to Regeneration, including environmental improvements, across the borough; continuing our programme of estate regeneration 
and delivering the Better Neighbourhoods Programme, so that growth across the borough is coordinated and shaped in such a way that everyone shares the 
benefits.   
 
 
 

P
age 79



 

6 

 

 M6.4 Households living in temporary accommodation 

This measure is a count of the number of households currently living in temporary accommodation. The measure is a snapshot. It is a data only measure 
without a target. 

Lead member Last update 
Short term trend 

arrow 
Long term trend 

(DOT) 

Statutory Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Housing Q3 2018/19 
  

Lead officer Type Contextual measure Target Actual RAG rating 

Divisional Director, Housing Strategic No   1,862 
 

Data 
Only 

Performance data trend chart Latest note 

 

 

 

P
age 80



 

7 

 

 

 M6.5 Resident satisfaction with the area 

This measure is taken from the council's residents survey and is expressed as the percentage of respondents who are very / fairly satisfied with the local area 
as a place to live. 

Lead member Last update 
Short term trend 

arrow 
Long term trend 

(DOT) 

Cabinet Member for Environment Deputy Mayor and Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration and Air Quality Statutory Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for Housing 

2017/18 
  

Lead officer Type Contextual measure Target Actual RAG rating 

Strategic Director, PLACE Strategic No   79.0% 
 

Data 
Only 

Performance data trend chart Latest note 

 

The latest outturn relates to the Annual Resident Survey carried out in early 2018 as 
previously reported to Cabinet. 

 

P
age 81



 

8 

 

 

 M6.2 Families re-housed from overcrowded conditions 

Overcrowding remains a problem in the borough and reducing overcrowding is a main aim of the council's housing service. The measure looks at new lettings 
in the most recent reporting period and assesses what percentage of lettings was to households previously living in overcrowded conditions. 

Lead member Last update 
Short term trend 

arrow 
Long term trend 

(DOT) 

Statutory Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Housing Q3 2018/19 
  

Lead officer Type Contextual measure Target Actual RAG rating 

Divisional Director, Housing Strategic No 55.0% 55.5% 
 

Green 

Performance data trend chart Latest note 

 

This measure is on target. 

 

P
age 82



 

9 

 

 

 M6.3 Effectiveness of homelessness prevention 

The council's housing advice service provides support and casework for households who consider themselves homeless. The measure looks at the 
percentage of households who received advice and support and for whom for whom housing advice casework intervention resolved their situation. 

Lead member Last update 
Short term trend 

arrow 
Long term trend 

(DOT) 

Statutory Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Housing Q2 2018/19 
  

Lead officer Type Contextual measure Target Actual RAG rating 

Divisional Director, Housing Strategic No 18.00% 26.21% 
 

Green 

Performance data trend chart Latest note 

 

This measure is on target. This quarter the service supported 538 households who 
considered themselves as homeless, and out of these, 141 households were prevented 
from becoming homeless. 

 

P
age 83



 

10 

 

 

 M6.1 Affordable homes completed 

This measure is a count of the total number of affordable homes completed in the year to date (gross number). Quarterly figures and targets are cumulative. 

Lead member Last update 
Short term trend 

arrow 
Long term trend 

(DOT) 

Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Air Quality Q3 2018/19 
  

Lead officer Type Contextual measure Target Actual RAG rating 

Divisional Director, Housing Strategic No 874 322 
 

Red 

Performance data trend chart Latest note 

 

The total number of affordable homes delivered so far this year is 322.  The forecast for 
the year has slipped to 729, 121 homes short of the minimum expectation target of 850.  
This is primarily down to the completion of two Canary Wharf Group schemes slipping 
into the first quarter of 2019/20. 
The delivery of 173 units this quarter is a good increase in completions from the 
previous quarter. This is due to a number of schemes, which had slipped in previous 
quarters, now completing. There are usually more completions in Q4 than in previous 
quarters. This is largely due to how schemes are programmed in terms of cash flow 
and grant conditions, developers and Registered Providers (RP) ensure end of year 
targets are met. Their main target for completions is by the end of the financial year, 
not quarters. As schemes are delivered by RPs and private developers, the council has 
little direct control on how these schemes are delivered. 
Next year, this measure will report the number of affordable homes delivered as 
recorded on the GLA’s London Development Database (LDD) rather than by using data 
gathered from registered social landlords locally. In order to record delivery on the 
LDD, a Completion Certificate needs to be issued by either an Approved Inspector or 
LBTH Building Control. There is typically a time lag between onsite inspection and the 
issue of certificates. There is no obligation on external Approved Inspectors to promptly 
issue certificates in relation to schemes where they are the appointed authority. So 
whilst the current method of recording delivery may be slightly timelier, going forward, 
our recorded delivery will mirror what is officially and publicly reported through the LDD.  
By Q3 this year and with the above caveats, the total number of affordable housing 
delivered recorded on the LDD is 90. 

 

P
age 84



 

11 

 

 

Strategic plan delivery 
 
 
RAG   Activity Note 

 
Activity 6.1 We will increase the supply and 

delivery of all types of affordable 
homes, including new council 
housing, bringing empty properties 
back into use and making the most 
effective use of the existing stock 

Update provided for Quarter 1 and 2 
 
Using Right-to-Buy receipts, we are enabling registered providers to purchase homes, keeping 
them from being sold on the open market, thus increasing our social housing stock for residents on 
the housing register. So far this year there have been four purchases. 
 
To facilitate self-builders in the borough, we have held a forum for registered self-builders where 
advice was provided from the Greater London Authority (GLA) small sites team. Nine potential 
sites for self-building have been identified. 
 
Seven new council homes are being built at Locksley Street, Jubilee Street and Baroness Road. 
We have started to build 53 new council homes at Barnsley Street, and we have submitted a 
planning application for new homes at Norman Grove. 
 
Under occupation of council homes is an issue we are tackling so that we can maximise rehousing 
opportunities for residents in need of social housing. We are doing this by training our staff to 
engage with and actively support tenants who wish to downsize. 
 
We are talking to home owners of empty properties with the aim of bringing them back into use. 
The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwelling) Bill which is 
currently going through Parliament, has provision to enable councils to use additional Council Tax 
charges to try to encourage occupations.  The Bill will enable councils to charge extra for empty 
properties and up to 300% extra for properties empty for 10 or more years. 
 
Update provided for Quarter 3 
 
The council is committed to doing what it can to tackle the housing crisis in the borough. 173 new 
affordable homes for residents have been completed this quarter bringing the total delivered so far 
this year up to 322.  
 

P
age 85



 

12 

 

RAG   Activity Note 

So far this year through casework interventions we have prevented 221 households from 
becoming homeless.  
 
We are in the final stages of producing a policy which will facilitate self-builders in the borough. Our 
officers are currently undertaking the relevant legal checks relating to the eight potential sites that 
have been identified for self-building in the borough.  Under-occupation of council homes is an 
issue we are tackling so that we can maximise rehousing opportunities for residents in need of 
social housing. We are doing this by training our staff to engage with and actively support tenants 
who wish to downsize. 
 

 
Activity 6.2 We will improve the quality & 

management of social & private 
housing in the borough through 
delivering the Better Neighbourhood 
programme, supporting housing 
associations in managing their stock 
& extending use of licensing & 
enforcement in the Private Se 

Update provided for Quarter 1 and 2 
 
With Tower Hamlets Homes, we are delivering a £25.512 million Council Housing Capital 
Programme. So far, through the Better Neighbourhoods Programme of funding we have spent 
almost £6.4million (this year’s budget is £7.5million). 32 blocks of flats have been completed and a 
further three blocks are estimated to be completed in December. Other blocks will be refurbished 
over the remainder of 2018/19 and into next financial year. 
 
Following the Grenfell Tower tragedy, we have instigated a range of fire safety improvements in 
blocks on estates, spending £1.9 million so far this year. We have also strengthened our fire safety 
regulations and issued them to developers. 
 
We have been providing support for private renters and landlords comprising of continued 
promotion of the Private Rented Sector Charter, licensing and enforcement advice, training 
(including fire safety) and accreditations and landlord forums. So far this year we have improved 
our website content on this issue and conducted several communications campaigns. 
 
Update provided for Quarter 3 
 
With Tower Hamlets Homes, we are delivering a £25.512 million Council Housing Capital 
Programme. Since Q2 update an additional £200k has been spent on refurbishing blocks of flats, 
bringing the total refurbished so far this year to 34 blocks.  The remaining four blocks are expected 
to be completed by March 2019. So far this year, £2.1 million has been spent on implementing a 

P
age 86



 

13 

 

RAG   Activity Note 

range of fire safety improvements in blocks on estates.  
 
Private renters and landlords - at the last Private Renters’ Charter Forum meeting in December, 
attendees heard from representatives from the Greater London Authority (GLA) about the Mayor of 
London’s strategy for private renting and the Mayor’s rogue landlord agent checker. 

 
Activity 6.3 We will deliver a programme of 

regeneration on the Ocean estate, 
Blackwall Reach, Chrisp Street and 
Poplar Riverside 

Update provided for Quarter 1 and 2 
 
We have started on site of the second phase of the Blackwall Reach development to deliver 268 
new homes, and we are now looking at plans to develop the third phase. An information and 
engagement event was held where future tenants to be rehoused into Phase 2 saw the floorplans 
for their new homes. 
 
Planning permission has now been granted for the regeneration of Chrisp Street Market. 
Regeneration will include refurbishing current shops, new buildings, and providing a larger market. 
There are also plans to increase the number of homes including affordable homes, provide a new 
cinema and restaurants, pocket parks, a new Sure Start centre, a large new community hub and 
extended Idea Store.  
 
Our plans to deliver 225 new homes on the Ocean Estate (site H) have seen six new homes for 
affordable rent delivered so far. Another 88 affordable rented homes are expected to be completed 
before the end of March 2019. In the next financial year 29 shared ownership homes will be built. 
50 percent of all homes being delivered in this development will be classed as affordable.  
 
We are working with partners to get plans in place for developing the Poplar Riverside Housing 
Zone which will consist of 10 development sites with around over 3,000 new homes in the first 
phase of development. To improve connections, the plans include options for bridges across the 
River Lea. 
 
Update provided for Quarter 3 
 
The design of the third phase of the Blackwall Reach development has been briefly paused so that 
any findings from the Government review of fire safety design can be incorporated. However this 
should not delay the completion of this development.  Phase three will deliver around 324 new 

P
age 87



 

14 

 

RAG   Activity Note 

homes.  
 
We have now started engaging with the residents and businesses that will be affected by the 
compulsory purchase order (CPO) of Chrisp Street Market.  
 
Construction of the Ocean Estate (site H) development is ongoing. So far six new homes for 
affordable rent have been built and another 88 affordable rented homes are expected to be 
completed by the end of March 2019.  In the next financial year 29 shared ownership homes will 
be built. 50 percent of all homes being delivered in this development will be classed as affordable. 
 
The council and its partners have established a new Regeneration Board which will support the 
development of the Poplar Riverside Housing Zone.  

 
Activity 6.4 We will manage housing 

infrastructure pressures through a 
new Local Plan 

Update provided for Quarter 1 and 2 
 
Our new draft Local Plan was assessed by the Planning Inspectorate (Examination in Public) 
during September and October. It is anticipated that the new Local Plan will be adopted in 
spring/summer 2019. 
 
To support our growing population, we have been delivering a number of strategic and local 
infrastructure projects with the aid of funds from large developers (Local Infrastructure Fund, 
Community Infrastructure Levy and Section 106). In Poplar Park and Jolly’s Green we spent £80k 
on the construction of new ball games court, new paths, boundary improvements and renewal of 
tennis courts. In August we used £73k to improve the Victoria Park pool playground. We are 
spending £5m to improve George Green School sixth form, and £2.9m on Suttons Health Centre. 
 
Update provided for Quarter 3 
 
In November we provided additional information and modifications of our new draft Local Plan to 
the Planning Inspectorate (Examination in Public). We expect to be able to consult residents and 
other interested parties on those modifications in early 2019. 
 
The council continues to support neighbourhood planning. We have developed our Neighbourhood 
Planning Service Offer, which explains how we are committing to supporting neighbourhood 

P
age 88



 

15 

 

RAG   Activity Note 

planning in the borough. The council's website includes two helpful application guidelines for 
interested groups. In October, a new Neighbourhood Area and Forum was created, the Poplar 
Regen Alliance. 

 
  

P
age 89



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
	2 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)
	4 RESPONDING TO GROWTH AND WATER INFRASTRUCTURE NEEDS AND TACKLING THE ISSUE OF LOW WATER PRESSURE
	5 INFRASTRUCTURE PLANNING AND THE INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY PLAN
	6 NPPF UPDATE AND LETWIN REVIEW ON BUILD-OUT RATES
	7 SOCIAL HOUSING LANDLORD PERFORMANCE REPORT - Q3 2018/19
	Q3_ITEM 7 APPX 1
	Item 7 - Appendix 2 HSSC - clarion

	8 STRATEGIC PLAN REPORTING Q1-Q3 2018/19 - EXTRACT FROM THE CABINET REPORT: ACTIVITIES AND MEASURES RELATING TO HOUSING
	Item 8, app1_extract_for_hsng_scrutiny - v2


